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The Canterbury Earthquake Recovery Authority (CERA) is monitoring 
and reporting on the progress of the recovery. The Canterbury 
Wellbeing Index tracks the progress of social recovery using 
indicators to identify emerging social trends and issues.

Why is participation in education important?
Our early childhood centres, schools and tertiary institutions exist as an investment in the futures of 
our children and young people.

Participation in all stages of the education system is crucial so that young people can develop the 
skills and knowledge they need to find employment and gain a high quality of life. When levels of 
participation and achievement are high, the region and the country benefit economically, society is 
more cohesive and cultures are enriched. 

By participating in early childhood education, young children are prepared socially and academically 
for their transition to primary school. Participation in early childhood education can also help reduce 
inequalities among our most vulnerable children.

A low level of participation in compulsory education can be a signal that issues such as a disruptive 
home life or behavioural problems are interfering with attendance. Sustained truancy affects 
educational achievement and can be a strong predictor of violence, delinquency, substance abuse, 
suicide risk, unemployment and early parenting.1 Linkages between truancy and crime are of 
considerable concern.

Young people who are not engaged in employment, education or training (NEET) miss the opportunity 
to develop skills and knowledge at an age that has a strong influence on future success. They also 
miss the opportunity to contribute fully to society.

Tertiary education builds on human capital. It is vital for creating a socially cohesive greater 
Christchurch. Young people who have valued qualifications and skills are more likely to find 
sustainable employment, put roots down in the city, and work to create a better future.

International students have a doubly positive impact. First, they strengthen the financial position  
of schools and tertiary providers they attend. Second, they bring an international perspective to 
greater Christchurch.

Attracting domestic and international students back to tertiary providers based in greater Christchurch 
will contribute significantly to the economic recovery. 

How was participation in education impacted by the earthquakes?
After the February 2011 earthquake, 18 schools were relocated and 7,000 students were bussed daily 
to host sites. Fifty-five per cent of secondary students were ‘site sharing’, with one school holding 
classes in the mornings and another school holding classes in the afternoons.2

Within three weeks 84 per cent of school students were able to attend school again, and within a 
month 78 per cent of early childhood education centres were back up and running.

However, the earthquakes continued to have a major impact on education provision. Many early 
childhood centres, schools and tertiary providers had been damaged in some way or the number of 
enrolments had changed as people moved around or away from greater Christchurch. 

The earthquakes changed patterns of attendance in early childhood education, with enrolments down 
by 1,125 in the year to July 2011. Many affected centres were located in the east of the city. 
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Following the February 2011 earthquake, over 12,000 primary and secondary students also left the 
school they had been attending and enrolled elsewhere, often at a school outside the region. Many 
returned, but in July 2012 there were 3,573 fewer students enrolled in greater Christchurch schools 
than in July 2010. 

In the tertiary sector, 2011 domestic enrolments were down 14 per cent on 2010. Across Lincoln and 
Canterbury universities, first year enrolments were down by 28 per cent.

International enrolments for the first eight months of 2011 were down 31 per cent. The earthquakes 
dented the confidence of potential international students in Christchurch as an education destination. 
A large proportion of the reductions in international students were in private training establishments.3 

What is happening now?
The Ministry of Education and Tertiary Education Commission have engaged with educators and 
communities to develop the Education Renewal Recovery Programme for greater Christchurch.

The draft Education Renewal Recovery Programme was released for public consultation in May 
2012 and finalised in August 2012 in the document entitled Directions for Education Renewal in 
Greater Christchurch. It was developed in response to population change and damage to land 
and educational facilities that occurred after the Christchurch earthquakes in 2010 and 2011. The 
programme aims to offer an innovative response to the earthquakes by improving the delivery of 
education, extending options for learners and lifting student achievement. 

Schools

As part of the overall plan for education renewal, proposals to close or merge 38 schools in greater 
Christchurch were announced in September 2012. These proposals took into account earthquake 
damage, roll numbers, weather tightness, the age and wear and tear of buildings, population 
movement and future population growth and school locations.4 

Extensive consultation was undertaken with schools and communities on these proposals. 
Considerable feedback helped shape the final decisions, which affected 24 of the original 38 schools. 
11 schools merged to create five merged schools, 11 others closed (including the four schools that will 
form the new Aranui Community School for years 1-13) and two schools chose to close voluntarily.

These final decisions then fed into the Christchurch Schools Rebuild Programme announced in 
November 2013 in which the Government committed to invest $1.137 billion to rebuild and renew 115 
schools in greater Christchurch over the next 10 years.

During the 10-year programme,5 the Ministry of Education will construct 13 new schools on new sites, 
rebuild 10 schools on existing sites, fully redevelop 34 schools and moderately redevelop 58 schools.

The Ministry of Education has a dedicated team that works in partnership with schools from initial 
planning to design and final construction. This programme is now fully under way and as at May 2015 
Halswell and Pegasus schools have been completed and other schools are between the planning and 
construction phases.6

Redcliffs School is the only school in the Christchurch Schools Rebuild Programme with a decision on 
its future still outstanding. In March 2015 the Ministry of Education announced the proposed closure 
of the school and this proposal is out for consultation until July 2015.  

When the Christchurch Schools Rebuild Programme is complete, more than 80 per cent of teaching 
spaces in greater Christchurch will be repaired and/or modernised to facilitate quality teaching and 
learning environments.  

To make the most of the flexibility, openness and access to resources offered by modern quality 
teaching and learning environments, there is also a focus on ensuring teachers are supported to 
adopt modern learning practices. This will ensure greater Christchurch has a quality teaching and 
learning environment that will serve as a platform for student learning well into the future. 
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Tertiary

In October 2013, the Government announced an $18.9 million funding boost for Christchurch 
Polytechnic Institute of Technology (CPIT), which allowed it to train an additional 1,000 trade students 
each year to support the growing demand for skilled workers for the Canterbury rebuild.7

The Tertiary Education Strategy (2014–19) released in March 2014, set out the Government’s long-
term strategic directions for the tertiary education system and highlighted “delivering skills for industry” 
as one of its key priorities.8 The University of Canterbury’s redevelopment programme has been 
designed to modernise 80 per cent of its campus and infrastructure. The total programme is valued 
at $1.1 billion over 10 years, and is jointly funded by insurers, the university and $260 million from the 
Government. The university has already awarded two major construction contracts for the Canterbury 
Engineering the Future project (engineering rebuild) and the Regional Science and Innovation Centre. 
Both are due for completion in 2017.  

Lincoln University is working on its campus redevelopment plan as it identifies what it needs to do 
to recover and grow, and is considering a number of different investment options. A core component 
of this plan is the ‘Lincoln Hub’ which is a collaborative partnership between AgResearch, Dairy NZ, 
Landcare Research, Plant and Food Research and Lincoln University.  In July 2014 Cabinet agreed 
to an ‘in principle’ investment of $107.5 million for the Science Facilities Rebuild in conjunction with 
the Lincoln Hub. 
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What are the indicators telling us?

ECE participation

This is measured in this report as the proportion of Year 1 entrants who had prior participation in early 
childhood education (ECE).

Before the earthquakes, greater Christchurch was well-served with 15,644 ECE places, which 
increased to 16,407 in 2014. Figure 1 confirms that despite the earthquakes ECE participation has 
been consistently higher than the national average. Latest data for 2014 shows a slight drop in ECE 
participation in greater Christchurch (particularly in Selwyn and Waimakariri districts), however it 
remains higher than the national rate.

Figure 1: Proportion of Year 1 entrants who had previously participated in early childhood education 
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Student absences

This is measured through the total absence rate and unjustified absence rate from primary and 
secondary schools. Unjustified absence is also called ‘truancy’.

Both the total absence and unjustified absence rates decreased in the immediate post-earthquake 
period in the three areas which make up greater Christchurch, but they have generally increased 
since 2011. However, the rates in the Selwyn and Waimakariri districts remain lower than pre-
earthquake levels. By 2013 the unjustified absence rate for Christchurch city was above the national 
average.  

Figure 2: Total absence rate and unjustified absence rate9 

 

NEET (not in education, employment or training) rate

Figure 3 shows that the proportion of young people aged 15–24 years who are not in employment, 
education or training (NEET) in greater Christchurch spiked after the February 2011 earthquakes. 

However, as young people in greater Christchurch have taken advantage of rebuild opportunities, the 
NEET rate has decreased by 33 per cent between the pre-earthquake period (two years to March 
2010) and the year to March 2015, compared with a 13 per cent decrease nationally. It peaked at 
16.8 per cent in March 2011 and has subsequently halved. At March 2015 the greater Christchurch 
rate was 7.3 per cent, compared with 12.6 per cent across New Zealand.

By March 2015 there were just 2,000 NEET males in greater Christchurch (5.3 per cent, compared 
with 9.6 per cent of males in New Zealand overall) and 3,200 NEET females (9.5 per cent, compared 
with 15.7 per cent of females in New Zealand overall). These are significant decreases from the 
March 2011 quarter when there were 3,900 NEET males in greater Christchurch (15.8 per cent) and 
4,700 NEET females (17.8 per cent).

 
As young people in 
greater Christchurch 
have taken 
advantage of rebuild 
opportunities, the 
NEET rate has 
decreased by 33 
per cent between 
the pre-earthquake 
period and March 
2015, compared 
with a 13 per cent 
decrease nationally. 
At March 2015 the 
greater Christchurch 
rate was 7.3 per cent, 
compared with 12.6 
per cent across New 
Zealand. 
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In December 2012 the NEET rate for females peaked at 21.3 per cent. This was because early 
rebuild-related employment opportunities favoured males and there was a loss of significant retail and 
hospitality work in which young females traditionally found employment.

Trade training scholarships for women (aged under 25 years) offered by CPIT aim to provide the skills 
and knowledge needed to start a career in the trade industry. These scholarships are also expected 
to encourage women to explore career opportunities in the rebuild, particularly those in traditionally 
male-dominated occupations. 

Overall, employment and training opportunities generated by the rebuild have led to a reduction in the 
NEET rate and a widening gap between the greater Christchurch and the national rates.

Figure 3: ‘Not in employment, education or training’ (NEET) rate for the youth population by sex 
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Tertiary enrolments

This is a measurement of the domestic and international students enrolled in tertiary institutions.

Figure 4 shows that enrolments of all part-time and full-time students in formal tertiary education 
in greater Christchurch declined by nearly 17 per cent between 2009 (45,912 students) and 2013 
(38,258 students), compared with an 11 per cent decline across New Zealand. By 2014 there had 
been a further decrease to 36,454 (compared with a slight increase across New Zealand).

Annually the greatest decrease in total enrolments in greater Christchurch occurred between 
2010 and 2011. Since then figures have levelled off but remain below those recorded before the 
earthquakes.

Enrolments in universities in greater Christchurch declined by 17 per cent between 2009 (21,552 
students) and 2014 (17,995 students). Polytechnic enrolments declined by 32 per cent over the same 
period (17,494 to 11,920 students) compared with a 23 per cent decline nationally. 

Polytechnic enrolments dropped most notably at the time of the major earthquakes but have 
subsequently started to increase. There are growing trades training opportunities offered at CPIT to 
support demand for skilled workers for the Canterbury rebuild. However there was a slight drop in 
polytechnic enrolments for greater Christchurch in 2014.  

Figure 4: Number of tertiary enrolments 
 

 
Table 1 sets out enrolment numbers for domestic and international students.10 Between 2010 and 
2011 enrolments in tertiary education dropped significantly by 14 per cent for domestic students and 
17 per cent for international students.

In 2014, total intakes of tertiary students at Christchurch-based institutions remained 19 per cent 
down on 2010. When compared with 2013, international enrolments increased strongly (11 per cent) 
while domestic enrolments were down (7 per cent).

Table 1: Full-year domestic and international student enrolments in greater Christchurch 2010–2014 
 

Type of student 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

Domestic 39,573 33,882 34,838 34,339 32,014

International 5,671 4,704 3,907 4,075 4,536

Total 45,244 38,586 38,745 38,414 36,550
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Student engagement

Student engagement is measured in this report by the age-standardised rate of exclusions, 
expulsions, stand-downs and suspensions for primary and secondary school students.

Stand-downs and suspensions declined in 2011 after the major earthquakes but have subsequently 
increased in line with national rates.

Figure 5 shows that the age-standardised rate for stand-downs in greater Christchurch decreased 
between 2009 and 2011 by 11 per 1,000 students (from 29 per 1,000 students in 2009 to 18 per 1,000 
students in 2011). The rate subsequently increased to 22 per 1,000 students in 2013, in line with the 
New Zealand rate. 

The age-standardised rate for suspensions in greater Christchurch also decreased between 2009 and 
2011 by 2 per 1,000 students (from 5 per 1,000 students in 2009 to 3 per 1,000 students in 2011). The 
rate subsequently increased to 4 per 1,000 students in 2013, again in line with the New Zealand rate.

Figure 5: Age-standardised rate for stand-downs, expulsions, suspensions and exclusions per  
1,000 students 
 

 
Stand-downs and 
suspensions declined 
in 2011 after the major 
earthquakes but 
have subsequently 
increased in line with 
national rates.
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Student transience

In this report, student transience is measured by the number of times a school student has re-enrolled 
within greater Christchurch during the school year.

Figure 6 shows that student transience increased in 2011 but is now below pre-earthquake levels.

The proportion of students who re-enrolled at least once more than doubled between 2009 (2.7 per 
cent or 1,926 students) and 2011 (6.8 per cent or 5,091 students). By 2014 the rate had dropped back 
to 2.9 per cent (2,110 students). 

The number of students who re-enrolled in a new school twice or more increased almost fivefold from 
123 students in 2009 to 600 in 2011. However, by 2014 the number dropped back to 114.

The 2010-2011 increase in transience reflected the significant upheaval families faced with damaged 
homes and changes to employment patterns and social connections. From 2012 onwards this 
upheaval has reduced and numbers now reflect standard patterns of pre-quake transience.

Over 97 per cent of students remained enrolled in the same school each year between 2008 and 
2014, with the exception of 2011 in which, due to the earthquakes, only 93 per cent remained enrolled 
in the same school.  

Figure 6: Number of students who re-enrol at a different school in greater Christchurch each year 
 

 
Student transience 
increased in 2011 but 
is now below pre-
earthquake levels.
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Find out more 
Find out more about the Ministry of Education’s education renewal plans:  
www.shapingeducation.minedu.govt.nz

Find out more about education statistics: 
www.educationcounts.govt.nz

Find out more about Right Service Right Time, an innovative approach to ensure the wellbeing of 
children and families: www.rightservice.org.nz

Find out more about CPIT free trades training: www.cpit.ac.nz/study-options/our-study-interest-areas/
trades

Find out more about the Ministry of Women’s Affairs research on using women’s labour in the 
Canterbury recovery: www.mwa.govt.nz

Technical notes

ECE participation: 

Data source:  Ministry of Education administrative data

Data frequency:  Yearly to June and yearly to each quarter

Data complete until: June 2014 and December 2014

Notes: The measure is institution-based, so the geographic assignment is based on where children 
are in childcare, not where they normally reside. Christchurch city, Selwyn and Waimakariri refer to 
the territorial authority boundaries. 

Data presented are yearly to June, and yearly to each quarter. ECE prior participation rates are 
affected by seasonal variations.

Student absences

Data source:  Ministry of Education’s Attendance in New Zealand Schools Survey

Data frequency:  Yearly in 2004, 2006, 2009, 2011, 2012 and 2013

Notes: Rates for the Christchurch area in 2011 should be interpreted with caution. These data were 
collected during the week in June 2011 when there were significant aftershocks and schools may 
have been closed. Schools had the option to report the week before or after, depending on whether 
they kept electronic or paper records.

NEET (youth not in education, employment or training)

Data source:  Household Labour Force Survey (HLFS), Statistics NZ

Data frequency:  Quarterly

Data complete until: March 2015

Notes: The HLFS interviews approximately 32,000 people or 16,000 private households in New 
Zealand each quarter. Each person is interviewed for eight quarters (two years) so that changes 
in labour market can be measured. Interviews are carried out each week of the quarter so that the 
data are an average for that quarter. The working-age population consists of usually resident, non-
institutionalised, civilian population of New Zealand aged 15 years or over.

The labour force consists of members of the working age population who, during the survey reference 
week, were classified as ‘employed’ or ‘unemployed’.

Those not in the labour force comprise any person in the working-age population who is neither 
employed nor unemployed. They mainly consist of people who:
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•	 are retired

•	 are not actively seeking work

•	 attend educational institutions

•	 are permanently unable to work due to physical or mental disabilities

•	 were temporarily unavailable for work in the survey reference week

•	 have personal or family responsibilities such as unpaid housework or childcare.

NEET includes both those people who are unemployed (part of the labour force), and those who are 
not in the labour force, and at the same time, not in education and training. 

Greater Christchurch is comprised of Christchurch City Council, Selwyn District Council and 
Waimakariri District Council and is below survey design level. Data are indicative only and should 
be interpreted cautiously. Data for greater Christchurch during 2011 are subject to slightly higher 
sampling error than normal owing to interruption of surveying.

The HLFS is a sample survey and therefore subject to sampling error. Estimates based on 
populations fewer than 1,000 are suppressed as they are subject to sampling errors too high for most 
practical purposes. Estimates of numbers have been rounded to the nearest hundred. 

Tertiary enrolments

Data source:  Ministry of Education administrative data

Data frequency:  Yearly

Data complete until: 2014

Notes: Numbers are head counts, not equivalent full-time students, and include New Zealand 
and international students. The numbers include Christchurch campus enrolments for institutions 
headquartered elsewhere (eg, Wellington Institute of Technology, Southland Institute of Technology, 
University of Otago), and exclude non-Christchurch enrolments of Christchurch-based providers (eg, 
the Telford campus of Lincoln University). Telford Rural Polytechnic merged with Lincoln University in 
2011.

Students who were enrolled in more than one sub-sector have been counted in each sub-sector. 
Consequently, the sum of the sub-sectors may not add to the total number of students. Students 
who were enrolled in more than one territorial local authority have been counted in each authority. 
Consequently, the sum of the students in all territorial local authorities may not add to the total 
number of students.

Total figures include students from universities, polytechnics, Te Wānanga o Aotearoa and private 
training establishments.

Student engagement

Data source:  Ministry of Education Stand-downs and Suspensions database and the   
  Ministry of Education July school roll returns

Data frequency: Yearly in July

Data complete until: 2013

Notes: The numerator for the rates in this indicator was from the Ministry of Education Stand-downs 
and Suspensions database, and the denominator for the rates was from Ministry of Education July 
school roll returns. Only state and state integrated schools are included in the data. 

The age-standardised rate of intervention per 1,000 students eligible for that intervention is the 
number of observed interventions divided by the number of expected interventions multiplied by the 
latest national rate per 1,000. By age-standardising, rates from different areas can be compared more 
accurately by controlling for the effect of differing age distributions in those different areas. All of the 
age-standardised rates are standardised against the current year national rate so that the data are 
comparable across years.
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All students are eligible for suspension and stand-downs. Only students up to the age of 16 years are 
eligible for exclusions. Only students 16 years and older are eligible for expulsion.

The data have been aggregated for all of New Zealand, and separately for those territorial local 
authorities that constitute greater Christchurch (Christchurch City Council, Selwyn District Council and 
Waimakariri District Council).

The engagement data are defined as:

Stand downs – the removal of a student from school for a specified period

Suspension – the removal of a student from school until the Board of Trustees decides the outcome

Exclusion – a student under 16 years old is permanently removed from school and has to enrol 
elsewhere

Expulsion – a student 16 years old or over is permanently removed from the school

Student transience (number of moves within greater Christchurch)

Data source:  Ministry of Education school enrolment data

Data frequency:  Yearly in March

Data complete until: 2014

Notes: The data include students who were enrolled in schools in greater Christchurch (Christchurch 
City Council, Selwyn District Council and Waimakariri District Council) throughout the entire school 
year.
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Endnotes
1 www.educationcounts.govt.nz/indicators/main/student-engagement-participation/1935 

2 Ministry of Education. (2012). Shaping education: directions for education renewal in greater 
Christchurch.

3 Ministry of Education. (in press). Monitoring the recovery: post-compulsory education in Christ-
church.

4 www.shapingeducation.govt.nz

5 Planned to be completed by the end of 2022.

6 Christchurch Schools rebuild programme update 6 http://www.minedu.govt.nz/NZEducation/Edu 
cationPolicies/Schools/PropertyToolBox/CSR/CSRNews/Issue6.aspx 

7  www.stuff.co.nz/the-press/news/9242483/18-9m-pumped-into-CPIT-for-trades 

8 www.mbie.govt.nz/news-and-media/news-from-around-mbie/tertiary-education-strate-
gy-2014-19-released

9 Due to the earthquakes, figures for Christchurch may not represent ‘typical’ rates for the region. 
The survey of school rolls was scheduled to take place during the week of June 2011 that was 
subject to substantial aftershocks. Schools had the option of reporting the week earlier or later 
instead. Note schools were surveyed for absence rates in 2009, but the data are not available at 
the territorial authority level for that year. 

10 This denominator differs from that used for Figure 4.


